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Y search, informant interviews and study of historical documents. Two
ey sltes, 45-0K-182H (Blackburn Homestead) and 45-DO-202H (Condon Ferry)
ﬁ%h required subsurface investigation. Of particular interest were build-
4\' Ings, recognizable concentrations of objects (such as refuse dumps),
?ﬁ‘ scatters and buried objects. When a Chinese coin was found at prehis~
‘s toric site 45-D0-211, subsurface Investigations were conducted In the
L] historic component, designated 45-D0O-Z10H. However, no definite evi-
\;ﬁ. dence of Chinese Influence was found.
L
:fi The 30 sites Inciuded five allotments, nine placer mines, 12
’oo homesteads, three ferry crossings and a burial marker. Evidence indi-
.3* cates that the area was settled by homesteaders and miners In the late

nineteenth and early twentieth century. The ferrles and associated

buildings that served the miners and homesteaders were installed during :
this same perlod. The last mine was abandoned durlng the 1950s and }
most homesteads by shortly after World War |. Improved roads and

bridges made the ferries obsolete by 1930. Remnants of homesteads,

mines, al lotments and ferry landings suggest that, in general, these
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1. INTRODUCTION

Professional archaeologlical interest in historic cultural resources has
grown rapidly in the last decade, spurred by the enactment of a comprehensive,
integrated body of federal statutes, regulations, and guldelines designed to
protect signlficant cultural properties threatened by either natural or human
agencies. As steward of the cultural properties under its jurisdiction, the
U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Seattle District, undertook a comprehensive
program of cultural resource inventory, assessment, and impact mitigation In
response to an anticlpated ten-foot pool raise behind Chief Joseph Dam. These
investigations, which were carried out by the University of Washington's
Office of Public Archaeology (OPA) under two separate contracts with the Corps
(DACW67-77~C-0099 and DACW67-78-C-0106), encompassed both prehistoric and
historic cultural remains. The current report, describing the results of
survey and salvage studies of historic properties, is one of a series of
reports issuing from this Corps-sponsored research.

The project area is located in north-central Washington along a 45-mile
reach of the Columbia River between River Miles (RM) 545 and 590 in Okanogan
and Douglas counties. Several previous archaeological investigations had been
undertaken in this same area as a consequence of original dam construction and
planning for the proposed second powerhouse (Osborne 1949; Osborne et al.
1952; Leonhardy 1970; Lyman 1975; Munsell and Salo 1977). Although most of
this earlier work focused on reconnalssance of prehistoric sites, inventory
survey efforts by Washington State University (Lyman 1975) and the Corps
(Munsell and Salo 1977) identified 42 historic sites. The overwhelming
majority of these were within the guide-taking |ines of the proposed pool
raise. Reconnalssance undertaken by OPA In the fall of 1977 under Contract
DACW67-77-C-0099 added several sites to this inventory. Much of this work
provided helpful background for our research. The sites described In this
report are shown in Figure 1-1. Because most of them were expected to be
damaged or destroyed by the pool raise, Investigations were undertaken to
determine both thelr cultural significance and the need for further mitigative
efforts. Consequently, all historic cultural properties located within the
Corps' guide-taking |lnes were assessed by means of mapping, photographic

documentation, structure and feature descriptlion; and, at some sites, surface ‘ﬂ
col lection and |imited subsurface testing. This on-site information was ]
supplemented by a review of pertinent |iterature and informant interviews. 3
The following chapters are organized as follows. The second chapter '
deals with the strategy and tactics of historic site Investigations employed ::
at the Chief Joseph Dam Project. |t outliines both data recovery and data '*
analysis procedures and Identifies biases that might affect study findings. ;ﬂ
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The third chapter provides a general review of project area history,
describing several historlcal "themes" that helped us classify elements In the
historic cultural resource Inventory. These are: the al|lotment and
reservation system, early mining, particularly placer mining by Chinese,
homesteading, and early river transportation. Chapters 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8 each
provide a more detalled background for one of these themes and describe the
historic sites which reiate to it. A brief summary of the findings and thelr
implications Is presented as the final chapter.
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2. PROJECT STRATEGY

Historic sites In the project area were investigated by means of on-site,
ethnographic, documentary and archival techniques. On-site assessment
techniques Included mapping and photographing each above-ground building,
structure, and feature; describing the layout and condition of the site; and,
any measures recommended to mitigate the effects of pool raise behind Chlef
Joseph Dam. Evidence of structure and content at most sites was concentrated
at the surface. Two sites, 45-0K-182H (Blackburn Homestead) and 45-D0-202H
(Condon Ferry), however, required subsurface Investigation. Publ ished
historical accounts, public records, and material in the archives of the
Bureau of Indlan Affalrs were examined for clues to site ownershlp and
function. Interviews were conducted with local informants, many of whom were
direct descendants of ploneers.

ARCHAEOLOG | CAL SOURCES

According to standard practice In historic archaeology, we refer to the
component parts of historic sites as "features." Attributes of these
features, such as condltlon and age, were easily determined because most were
above ground and so were easlily visible. Simple inspection of features was
often sufficient to establish function since most were readily recognizable
structures or objects with contemporary counterparts. For purposes of
analysis and description, the features were organized Into four categories:
buildings, structures other than bulldings, portable objects, and
miscel laneous (Inciuding buried objects). Of particular Interest to
researchers were bulildings, recognizable concentrations of objects (such as
refuse dumps), scatters of objects (lacking the definltive boundaries of
concentrations), and buried objects (often very well preserved). The
relationships among objects, such as fruit frees in proximity to buildings and
tools, were Important In determining and dating site function. A more
detailed description of the four categories and their sub-components Is found
in the project's management plan (Jermann et al. 1978) as well as In
individual discussions in later chapters.

HISTORICAL SOURCES
Examination of published historles and other documentary and archival

sources was an jntegral part of our historic site research. Two kinds of
sources, researched publ ished accounts and publ ished oral histories,
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contributed to our understanding of both general area and specific site
history.

Publ Ished research about the region Includes general accounts of
Important developments, such as homesteading, mining, reservations,
transportation and the .ribal Land Allotment system. Most of this materidl is
too general or describes a time frame too brief to shed much light on the
history of specific sites. However, published reports, journals,
reminiscences, and maps by early fur traders, military personnel, and
surveyorc contaln some valuable specific materlal. The General Land Office's
"General Description" of each township Includes data about topography,
vegetation, soil and settiement patterns from the turn of the century
(Appendix A). County land records |ist homesteaders and the types of patents
lssued for specific sites and the Bureau of Indian Affairs Archives contain
records of the Tribal Land Allotment system on the Colvilile Indian
Reservation,

Publ Ished oral histories of the area include early pioneer reminiscences.
Our main source for Okanogan County was the quarterly magazine QOkanogan County
Her jtage. Our Douglas County source was a single volume, Ploneers to Power:
Historical Sketches of the Grand Coulee Dam Area published by the Bicentennial
Association Project. These publications contrlbuted some site-specific data
as wel| as general Information about the reglon's recent history.

ETHNOHISTORICAL SOURCES

Ethnohistorical accounts document recent events in the project area from
an anthropological perspective. Two published accounts of the historic period
in the project area we used are Ethnic Impact of the Events Incident to
Federal Power Development on the Colville and Spokane Indian Reservations (Ray
1977) and "Ethnohistorical Component of the Chief Joseph Dam Burial Relocation
Survey” (Milier 1979). While both studies contain general Information about
recent history on the Colv!lle Reservation, only Miller's work mentions ’
specific sites In the project area. |Informant interviews were conducted with
several land owners, who supplied Informatlon about specific sites and
suggested other sources of Information about site history and function,

e S N M e Dlcoclbineiliiiliie

EXCAVATION METHODS

Between November 1979 and January 1980, crews of five people each

excavated two historic sites (45-D0-202H) and 45-0K-182H) as well as the !
historic component of project prehistoric site, 45-D0-211. This third '
excavation (45-D0-210H) was Included because a fragment of a Chinese coin was

found during excavation of 45-D0-211, leading to speculation that the site may

have been used by Chinese miners. Since Native Americans commonly used such

coins as decorative items, excavators hoped to find other artifacts that would :
help define how the site was used, site 45-D0-202H was the location of Condon

Ferry, an important Columbia River crossing that supported a small settlement.

Since few surface remains were visible, subsurface excavations were undertaken

in order to assess site contents. Site 45-0K-182H was locally known as the
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Blackburn Homestead or the Chinese Dugouts. The possibiliity that the site
might have been a Chinese miners' camp encouraged subsurface investigations.

Test excavation followed standard archaeological procedures for
prehistoric sites. In addition, written reports and interviews were usad to
locate structural remains and to identify the function of subsurface features.
Surface col lections were conducted at both sites prior to subsurface
Investigation. At 45-0K-182H, artifacts were collected from the interior of
both structures and at 45-D0-202H, 10 units were placed to sample the
subsurface evidence of the hotel, saloon, saloon cellar and root cellar.

For the purposes of subsurface investigations, a Cartesian grid system in
4 m intervals was placed over the entire surface of 45-D0-202H, An arbitrary
datum polint was establ ished in the front portion of a building, whose rock
foundation was intact. An additional datum point was located 25 m to the west
on a line parallel to the river. At 45-OK-182H, the four units were
arbitrarily placed and oriented with reference to two datum points set 40 m
apart along a magnetic north-south axis.

At both sites, test pits were dug In order to sample structural contents
and identify structural remains. Artifacts associated with bulldings and
other structures or concentrations were left in sity until further excavation
required they be removed. At that point, they were described in field notes
and/or mapped. The features were mapped and photographed during and after
excavation. Field crews dug units In arbitrary 10 cm levels in the saloon
cel lar and root cellar units of 45-D0-202H unti| they encountered sterile
deposits. They excavated remaining units at the site In 10-cm contour levels
because the cultural material was concentrated from the surface to 10 cm below
it. Excavators dug all units at 45-0K~182H In arbitrary 10 cm levels. They
removed the soll matrix by skim shovel Ing and/or trowel ing, and screened It
through 1/8 in mesh screen whanever possible. In November and December 1979,
however, the soll was sometimes frozen and had to be broken up by hand.

ARTIFACT ANALYSIS

In the laboratory, artifacts were segregated Into categories by material
type--glass, ceramics, metal, wood, leather, plastic, paper and miscellaneous.
Artifacts such as window glass, natls, scrap metal, bottle and vessel glass
fragments, and ceramic fragments were assigned a lot number within each level
and unit and cataloged by that number. All other artifacts were cataloged by
individual number. Because the artifacts from 45-D0O-210H were collected as
part of prehistoric excavations at 45-D0-211, they were cataloged as
miscellaneous. The artifacts were not glven Individual numbers, but were
roughly separated Into lots of the same material types by level and unit, All
artifacts were weighed individually or by lot number. Most artifacts were
measured and their dlagnostic attributes noted and/or sketched. A few

artifacts, such as newspaper and catalog fragments, were treated with vinylite :>
resin In the field or in the laboratory. Other artifacts, either too fragile -
or unwieldy to be stored, such as the base of a barrel or keg, were assigned a S
catalog number, weighed, measured, sketched, described and discarded. ﬂ
Thereafter, analysis of each artifact varied according to the nature of its {

S
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f$ 2 material type. Major categories of artifacts found at the historic sites are E
ey described below. Y
AN BOTTLE AND VESSEL GLASS

Yl Glass fragments were divided Into groups of vessel glass, including y
- bottles, glassware and lamp chimney glass. Bottle glass fragments were ﬁ
u‘i further separated on the basls of color, type of contents and type of

e manufacture. These criteria usually Indicate a broad date range; a preclse 4
g reckoning is more difficult fo make. Although we have used dates of 3
:{{ manufacture as the dates for the bottle glass In the collections, the é
- manufacture date and the dates of use and/or discard are not necessarily ]
e identical. Discrepancies may occur as the result of the travel time from the .

place of bottie manufacture to the place of product manufacture and/or to the 1

o retall outiet. Shelf |ife of a product and the reuse potential of a bottle 1
< will also affect its longevity. Despite the Pure Food and Drug Act of June p
3:} 30, 1906, prohibiting the refiiling of bottles (Adams et al. 1975:113), people ]
;jﬁj found other uses for an empty bottle for example, moonshiners reused bottles A
e during the Prohibition (1920-1933) as they do today. {
@ Most botties In the collection were machine made, although a few were ]
ARA blown in molds. None were free blown. Automatic machine blowing began In

-7 1903 wlith the development of the Owens Bottie Company's automatic machines; by
1914, 172 Owens machines were in operation, each capable of producing 40
: bottles a minute (Munsey 1970:33). Machine-produced bottles have seams
NN extending the length of the bottle and neck and no pontil scars. The earllest
auvtomatic machine~-made bottles often have an uneven suction cut-off scar that
may also spread over the heel of the bottle. These diagnostic features are
evident in many of the bottles we recovered.

The bottle closures in our collection are malinly corks. Some may have

PP R G SR S S U W'Y

by had clamps or balls holding them In place, although there Is not much evidence
of this in our sample. Crown cap closures, abundant in our collection, came

§:> into use in 1895 and continue in use today (Fremont National Forest n.d.

iy n.p.). The two canning jar closures recovered Include a Mason jar type and an

A Economy closure. Figure 2-1 shows various bottle |Ip and collar types

':f‘ identified at 45-D0-202H (Condon Ferry), at 45-0K-182H (Blackburn Homestead)

[~ and at 45-D0-210H.

Al though bottles may be used for many purposes, they were manufactured as

DS containers for certain products. The original contents therefore offer a

- convenient way to classify them. The contalners in our sample are divided

:i' Into alcohol ic beverage; soft drink, juice and mineral water; drugs and

:}_ cosmetics; unknown contents; and canning jars. |f condiment or food jars were

:}; found, they were not readily Identifiable. The above classes were further

o divided Into types based on the manufacturing mold, glass color, and collar

; <. shape.
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Figure 2-1. Bottle |ip and/or collar types identified at 45-D0-202H,
45-0K-182H and 45-D0O-210H.

a. Flared iip

b. Cylindrical coliar

c. Crown |ip

d. Double-ring lip with rounded collar

Rounded collar with ring at base of neck

f. Doubie-ring lip with rounded collar and ring at base of neck
g. Mason jar closure

h. Economy jar closure
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CERAMICS

The ceramics class was divided by type of paste and by surface
decoration. The main paste types in our sample Include earthenware,
stoneware, and porcelain and include some subtypes of earthenware and
porcelain. Definitions of these pastes and their surface decorations follow
Durrenburger (1965), Chance and Chance (1976) and Saastamo (1971).

1. Earthenware. Thils opaque paste is white, buff or gray in color and both
soft and porous, Hardpaste earthenware [s |less porous and its paste a
brighter white, Both earthenware types are commonly found In
utilitartan whitewares and usually include everyday tableware such as
plates, cups, saucers and serving bowls, or other household items |ike
chamberpots. The hardpaste earthenwares developed by different
companlies, carry labels such as Stone China, Royal Stoneware, Ironstone
China and White Granite, Semi~Porcelain and Hotel Ware (Sprague
1980:39). Although some of the project fragments are |ikely hardpaste,
no fdentifyling trademarks were found.

Surface decorations on the earthenware types In our collection were
appl led by the fol lowing methods, sometimes in combination,

a. Transfer printing. To use this method, a plece of |inen paper,
which has been pressed against a copper plate with the etched
pattern, Is placed on the surface of a bisque (fired once but not
glazed) vessel, and the pattern rubbed onto the vessel.

b. Decalcomania. In this process, the pattern was printed on a layer
of thin tissue paper. The tissue paper or decal was then coated
with an adhesive, backed with heavler paper, dampened and placed
against a glazed vessel. When the paper was peeled off, the decal
remained on the surface., Because the decals were placed over the
glaze, the surrounding area appears more glossy and the design
eventual ly rubs off (Sprague 1980:19), This method was used on
cheaper wares.

Decalcomania transfers came Into general use in England In 1880 but were
not popular in the United States until 1900 (Ramsay 1939). Sprague (1980:20)
also discusses the use of "transfer films" In the 1900s. These were applied
in the same manner as decals, but were fired, evaporating the film and leaving
the mineral design on the glaze. They could then be touched up with palnt to
Imitate handpainted floral motifs,

c. Handpainting. As the name indicates, a design is applied manually
rather than by mechanical means. A handpainted design may be
combined with decals, transfer printing, gllding or repousse.
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“*.,}‘C d. Gilding. Gold and gold leaf were applled as accents and In bands on
yﬁ ¢ the inner rim and/or base with handpainting and repousse.
w,l; e. Repousse. A pattern or design In reilef shaped by hammering and
- :#} pressing from the reverse side. This method of making a mol ded
ROE rellef pattern became popular after 1850 (Sprague 1980:26).
e
a2l
Ll 2. Stoneware. A stoneware paste is harder and more compact than elther
V) earthenware paste. The color of a stoneware paste ranges from off-white
D, to gray , and although the paste is vitfreous, air bubbles are often
”d%' visible. Jugs, crocks and ale bottles were often made of stoneware.
;Q%( Although none of the stoneware shards in our collection bear surface
‘“kl decorations, a few were salt-glazed. In this process, salt Is thrown on
AN the vessel while it is being fired, resulting in a pitted surface not

uniike an orange rind.

Wit w
F-q‘.'-

; 3. Porcelain. Porcelain is the most vitreous of the three paste types and

e Includes a hardpaste and softpaste category. The latter is
Wi distinguished by a non-porous, granular, and silightly glassy appearance

S

NN while hardpaste porcelain has a pure white, highly vitreous and usually
d translucent appearance. The same techniques of surface decoration used
.&u on earthenware apply to porcelain,
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e METAL

! Metal artlifacts were segregated Into categories of nails and other

» construction fastencrs; tin cans; cartridges; and, a miscellaneous category
iﬁ} including clothing fasteners, harness fittings, stove parts, and other metal
e Items.

4 .gj

3%

N Nalls and Other Construction Fasteners

Square~cut nalls and modern wire-cut nails were segregated on the basis

¢? of their historic development, although they were probably used simultaneously
‘:g from 1890-1920, at least at Condon Ferry (45-D0-202H). The two nail types
1_\; serve the same function. Square-cut or square nalls, named because they were
41:; cut from a sheet of iron and therefore are rectangular in cross section, were
; handwrought in the United States untii 1800. After that date, machine-cut
S square nalls began to replace handwrought nalls for all but a few purposes
e (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:50). Machine-cut square nails probably did not
n§§ penetrate the far reaches of the frontier very rapidly. Most settlers made
s their own nalls or commissioned the local blacksmith to make them. By 1888,
e the square nail's popularity had begun to wane as wire nalls began to dominate
the market. The wire~cut or round nail Is manufactured by cutting steel wire
'ix{ into lengths and adding heads. Fontana and Greenleaf (1962:49) note that by
- 1888, wire nalls "represented a |ittle less than one-fifth of the total nall
j% product"; by 1895, wire nalls "represented just under three-fourths of the
ﬁ} total nait output" of the United States. A momentary resurgence In the square
N

Ay A A Ay




12

nall Industry came In 1900 when settiers In rural areas Increased thelr demand
for square-cut nails because shingles secured to barn roofs with wire nalls
had begun to blow off (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:50). The wire nall industry
immediately countered by producing a large-headed, galvanized roofing nall.

By 1902, the square nall industry was effectively eclipsed. Since that time,
square nalls have only been produced for speclal purposes.

Square-cut nalls were manufactured in a variety of types and sizes. They
were normally used for speciflc construction purposes, but preference on the
part of the builder and avallabil ity of the required nall size probably
determined use,

In our collection, only those square nalls that could be measured and/or
assigned a functional type were analyzed In the sample. We used shape and
size of head, length of shank, and, shape of shank In cross section to
ldentify the square nall by type. The common cut and hinge nail were the only
types of square-cut nall identified in our collection. Diagnostic
characteristics of the common cut nail are a bevelled shank, a rectangular
shape at the cross section of the point, and a rectangular head that tapers to
meet the shank. The hinge nall also has a bevelled shank with a rectangular
point. The head Is rectangular and slightly ralsed or reinforced. A hinge
nail Is also characterized by a taper In the shank immediately below the head.

The first wire nails were quite small and used mainly for picture frames,
cigar boxes, furniture and mouldings (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:42). By
1890, when wire nalls had begun to outnumber square~cut nalls, a variety of
larger sizes had come Into use. Nelson (1963:n.p.) quotes an 1888 article in
which the advantages of the new wire nails are lauded. The article describes
13 varleties, ranging in slzes from 2d, to 60d. Although wire nails became
the dominant nail type in the 1890s, many builders, for reasons noted above,
preferred square~cut nalls well after the turn of the century (Nelson
1963:n.p.).

Basic wire nall features have changed |ittie since their Inception
al though the variety of types has increased. The eariiest wire nalls may be
distinguished by slightly bulbous heads set unevenly on the shank. Because
"these nalls are usually manufactured from steei wire, which is held in
gripper dies and headed" (Netson 1963:n.p.), each round nail bears the marks
of the gripper die on the shank below the head and usually has a four-facet
point caused by the cutter die.

The numerous wire nails In our collection were categorized by measuring
the shank and examining the head. Fragments of nails or those too corroded to
ldentify were excluded. |n addition to the common diamond point, two shank
types are present in our collectlon. The butterfly point is a defective
dlamond point with one or two fins projecting from the shank's polnt; the ball
point has a spherical point on the shank of the nall and a diameter equal to
1ts shank. The ball point end Is presumed to indicate later manufacture. We
Identifled five wire nall types and a miscelianeous group In our collection:

1. Common. This nall Is also called a "standard nail" In both the 1900 and
1920 Sears and Roebuck Catalog. |t was available In sizes between 2d.
and 6d., the thickness of the wire increasing as length increased. The
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common nall Is still used today in scaffolding, house framing, crate
building, or In any construction In which appearance is |ess important
than speed of assembly (MacKercher 1979:129).

2, Finishing. This finer nail is distinguished by a small flat head and
conlcal ly shaped sides sloping toward a polnt. FlInishing nalls are
driven flush wlth the wood, leaving no depression around the head, so
that a coat of paint makes the head Invisible, The Sears and Roebuck
Catalog of 1900 listed the avallable sizes for finishing nalls as 4d. to
10d. There Is a probablility that some of our nails Identifled as
finishing nails may be flooring brads. Flooring brad nalls have larger
heads, but when slightly corroded, may be indistinguishable from a
finishing nali., The only fiocoring nails avallable in the 1900 Sears and
Roebuck Catalog were 8d. and 10d. While Sears catalogs would not have
been the only source of wire nalls In the project area, the catalog
listings are most |ikely representative of what was generally avallable
at the time,

3. Brad. A brad is a small tinishing nall with a rounded head flattened on
fop. It Is used to make small articles such as boxes and picture frames
and also in Inconspicuous places in furniture,

4., Roofing. A roofing nail is a short galvanized naill with a wide
flattened head.

5. Barrel nall. A barrel nall has a flattened head and is avallable In 1
1/8 Iinand 1 1/4 in (Stern 1967:4).

6. Miscellaneous Nalls. One type of nall not associated with building was
found at one slite (45-Do-210H). This nail, the Hungartan or hob nail,
was used primarily on the bottoms of mountain climbers' boots, miners'
boots, and other shoes requiring extra traction. Fontana and Greenleaf
(1962:64) report that sizes were figured In eighths of an inch, ranging
"from 2 1/2 /8 to 5 1/2 /8." The 1902 Sears and Roebuck Catalog
advertised only 3/8 In stout and 3/8 in fine, however.

Tin Cans

Although the tin can collection at the project Is not large, It contalns
a variety of types. Tin cans were not predominant in American markets until
the 1890's even though this process of preserving food was first introduced in
Engiand in 1834 (Hunt 1959:8). The ldentifiable tin cans and fragments of
cans were assigned to the following types.

1. Hole-In-top can. This early canister was formed around a cylinder and
the seam soldered or folded. Separate pieces for the top and bottom
were then cut and also soldered. The ridge of solder on the seams
usual ly stands out In rellef, often as much as 1/8 In (Fontana and
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,:' Greenieaf 1962:68). Chance and Chance (1976:199) note that tin cans k
o recovered from 1880s deposits at Fort Vancouver have lead soldered &
. seams.
I\
\; The name of this can came from the method used to Insert the contents. :-
ot First, the food product being preserved was forced through a small hole _'
Q{ in the fop and a small cap was soldered in place. A small hole in the .
{, seal Ing cap allowed gases to escape. Later this hole was sealed with a a
v ) small drop of solder. The hole-in-top can, with certain closure ¥
_ variations, persisted until the 1900s (Fontana and Greenieaf 1962:69).
= .
:}‘} 2, Open-top can. This type of can is essentlally an earlier version of the .
,W\:'*: modern day tin can. It is distinguished by crimped ends and a locked :
Wy and |apped seam with no soldering. Open-top cans began replacing hole- t
In-top cans in 1902, but were not common in the industry until 1922
N (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:73), Within a decade, open-top cans were
fJ' virtually the only top-opening cans manufactured. By 1936, capacity and
."r'f.- sizes for open-top cans had been federal ly standardized by size and
»,\'}’ capaclity.,
t"
. 3, Sardine can. This flat, oblong can is opened with an attached key that
i’ 5 rolls a scored strip from the rim of the can. It was developed In 1895
oo and first applied to double-seamed cans in 1906. The key opening
‘Cdf continued to be used on the fully automatic machine-made, oblong cans
"f-:'_ that appeared on the market in 1918 (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:71).
L

4. Resealable can. These cans are |lke the open-top cans except they have
reusable lids which overlap the edges of the can. These cans were and
are used for dry food items, |lke spices or baking powder; and, for non-
cul inary Items, like palnt or tobacco.
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Condensed milk can. The original soldered condensed and evaporated milk
cans are Identifiable from thelir caps and bases, which are not depressed

e but have a "flush" profile |ike their modern counterparts. Milk

""_J companies also standardized their can sizes at an early date and changed

:S:.j the hole-in-top to a smailer "match stick" size fllier sealed with a

'};-. drop of solder (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:74).

r

\;_ 6. Tagger can. "Tagger" is the metal industry's name for thin sheet metal )

[ ::) or thin tin plate and is applled to a paint or kerosene can, round or .

“ :-.:’, rectangular, with ralsed pouring spout and screw cap. Tagger top cans .

7 were first made in England, but an American acquired an Engl ish patent ‘ﬁ

o\ in 1873 (Fontana and Greenleaf 1962:74) and Introduced this reusable and

d returnable can to the American market. i
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Cartridges

Cartridges were Identified Individually by matching those In our

collection with drawings and descriptlions in Cartridges of the Worid (Barnes
1980) and with the ald of David Munsel! (personal communication 1983). They
will be discussed Individually In thls report,

BUTTONS

Buttons were assigned to a separate category and they too wili be
discussed individually.
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3. HISTORICAL SYNOPSIS

Euroamerican history in the Chief Joseph Dam Project area commenced with
the visit of David Thompson, a trader and explorer, who navigated the Columblia
River from its source to the Pacific Ocean In 1811, On this journey,
undertaken for the Northwest Fur Trading Company, he founded Spokane House, a
fur-trading post on the Spokane River. Also in 1811, David Stuart of John
Jacob Astor's Paclflc Fur Company establ Ished Fort Okanogan at the confluence
of the Okanogan and Columblia Rivers. From this time until 1855, fur-trading
was the dominant Eurcamerican activity on the Columbia Plateau, although
missionaries, explorers, and military personnel were also present. [tinerant
missions were begun In the 1830's to provide religlous services to the trading
post personnel and to proselytize the Indlans: permanent missions were
establ ished soon after.

During the first half of the 19th century, none of the Euroamerican
activities on the Columbia Plateau were aimed at comprehensive settlement of
the reglon (Meinlg 1968:485), Trading posts, missions, and military posts
were relatively temporary or speclal ized occupations establ ished to promote
speciflc kinds of interaction with the native Inhabitants. Posts were few and
distant, and their location was conditioned in part by Native American
settlement patterns and transportation routes.

Historic records indicate no Euroamerican settiements in the project area
during the fur-trade era. The closest fur-trading posts were Fort Okanogan,
near present Chlef Joseph Dam, Fort Colvile, near Kettle Falls and Spokane
House, near Spokane. Because the Big Bend region, Including the project area,
was not a prime fur area, Fort Okanogan functioned primarliy as a routing post
on the transportation network necessary to getting the furs to eastern
markets. The closest permanent missions to the project area were St. Paul's
and St. Mary's Missions, located near Omak. The only historic records which
pertaln to the project area Itself are the records of fravelers on the
Columbia River or personnel from Fort Okanogan on short excursions. The
archaeological record agrees with the documentary record: we found no
evldence of Euroamerican occupation during the fur-trade era. The presence of
Euroamericans In the Big Bend region is not, however, unrecorded
archaeological ly. Trade goods dating to this time period are found in the
latest components at several Indian sites, 45~0K-2 (Campbell 1984), 45-D0-244
(Lohse 1984), and 45-0K-258 (Jaehnig 1984).

The next stage of historical development In the region began when gold
was discovered Iin 1855 near Kettle Falls, bringing Chinese and American miners
north from the California gold fields. The major mining districts, the
Kootenay, Fraser, Clearwater, and Okanogan, were north of the project area,
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but the Columbla River In eastern Washington also attracted miners because of
the placer mining possibilities along its banks. Placers are glaclal or
alluvlal deposits of sand and/or gravel which contain gold in particles large
enough to be captured by washing. The placer mines opened In the project area
were temporary diggings requiring far less capital than hard rock mining. To
mine a placer, prospectors mainly needed a good flow of water through a slulce
outfitted with grooved |inings called riffles which caught gold contalned in
the sand or gravel being washed through. Eight placer mines were recorded
within the project boundaries, seven in Douglas County anc one In Okanogan
County. The Okanogan County mine was still being worked during the early
1950s. Several of the project area placers were reputed to have been worked
by Chinese miners between 1860 and 1900. Informants also reported that
abandoned placer mines had been reopened in the twentieth century during
perlods of economic depression,

The Impact of gold mining on eastern WashlIngton was dramatic. With the
Influx of miners to the area and surrounding mining districts, new
transportation routes were developed, and settiement was encouraged. Open
conflict with the Indlans developed as the mlners encroached upon their lands.

During the mining boom, supplies were transported north from Portland,
The Dalles and Walla Walla to the mining districts to the north. Commercial
ferries were establ ished along the Columbia River at major crossings to
transport supply trains and miners, who generally had pack animals but no
boats. Three of the Columbia River ferries-~Hopkins, Pendel| and Condon--are
included in the present survey of historical sites. Supplies and miners from
commercial centers in the south crossed at these points to reach mines in
western Okanogan County, such as those at Ruby and Conconully.

Indian hostilities Increased as miners trespassed on the Indian |ands.
The U.S. Army was first called In to protect the white citizens, and later to
protect the Indians' rights. The latter action was decidedly Ineffective. An
order Issued by General Wool stated:

"No emigrants or other whites, except the Hudson's Bay

Company, or persons having ceded rights from the Indians, will be
permitted to settle or remain in the Indian country, or on land
not ceded by treaty, confirmed by the Senate and approved by the
President of the United States....These orders are not, however,
to apply to the miners engaged In collecting gold at the Colville
mines. The miners will, however, be notified that should they
interfere with the indlans, or their squaws, they will be punished
or sent out of the country." (34th Cong. 3rd Session, Vol.1, pt.2,
p.169, as quoted in Trimble 1914:22),

By excluding the miners who were much of the problem, this type of order had

little real effect.

In 1872, the Colville Indlan Reservation was establ Ished by Executive
Order of President Grant. Twelve groups, three of whom claimed territory in
the project area, were assigned to the land bordered on the north by Canada,
on the east by the Idaho Territory, on the south by the Columbia River, and on
the west by the Okanogan River. Only three months |ater, the eastern boundary
was relocated to the Columbia River, far west of the original boundary.
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Later, gold strikes west of the Okanogan River and subsequent pressure from
miners resulted In the closure of the adjoining Columbia Reservation, located
between the Cascade Mountalns and the Okanogan River. Flve groups, Including
Chief Moses' Band of Columbias, were moved from the closed reservation to the
Colville Reservation. In 1885, Chief Joseph and his Nez Perce people were
also moved onto the Colville Reservation, ending their exile In Oklahoma,

Even after establ ishment of the reservations, competition for land
continued. As early as 1882, Symons wrote that commerce "of great extent
would grow up as soon as these Indian Reservations are thrown open to the
public and settlers discover thelr attractions (1882:38). He envisloned that
"when the Colville Indlan Reservation is thrown open to settlement, and
becomes populated with thrifty and industrious whites, a raliroad wlili be
needed (Symons 1882:41). Because the reservation was not created by treaty,
many American settlers still considered the land to be in the Pubilc Domain
and felt they had a right to settle it. When homesteaders exerted pressure,
the size of the Colville Reservation was reduced a second time. In 1891, the
north half of the reservation was opened for mining and settlement; the south
half remained In tribal ownership but non-alloted land was opened to non-
Indian settiement in 1916.

The al lotment system had been instigated on the Colville Reservation
pursuant to the Dawes Act of 1887. Enrolled tribal members were granted
parcels of land similar to homesteads, but which were held in frust for the
Indian holder by the government rather than patented. The goal of the
al lotment system was to assimilate indians Into American culture by
encouraging them to farm and reside on specific parcels of land. This plan,
officials bel leved, would break down village and tribal bonds. The al lotment
system also was a means by which land was returned to the Public Domain, as
described above.

Four archaeological sites in the project area were allotments and their
histories run parallel to the failure of the allotment system. Generally,
this fallure can be attributed to the small size of the parcels and the
difficulties in transferring property ownership. Also, allotments were often
leased to Euroamericans and this effectively negated the purpose of the
allotment system. Three of the four allotments identified by our survey were
leased to non-lIndians for sheep grazing, Once white Americans gained control
of allotments, ferries were commissioned to transport stock to summer pastures
on the reservation. The presence of |ivestock not owned by Indians on
reservation |ands decreased Indian control still further.

If we shift the point of view and regard the region as part of American
westward expansion, settiement by the project area came relatively late.
Western Oregon, settled In the 1850s, was the primary source of the first
immigrants to eastern Washington. The subsequent Influx of people info the
Pacific Northwest during the gold mining period created an enormous demand for
Willamette Valley cattle which were soon brought to graze on the open range of
the Columbia Basin. This demand lessened when the mining boom ended, but
revived once the railroads reached eastern Washington, making Midwes*ern
I lvestock markets accessible to Washington farmers. The cattle Industry did
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not prosper widely, however, and, in 1885, open range lands still in the
Public Domain were claimed by homesteaders.

The new settlers found that land which supported a luxurious growth of
bunchgrass was more profitable for wheat production than cattle grazing. Many
of the homesteaders came to the Big Bend region on the railroads that
connected the area with reglional grain markets in Spokane and national markets
in Portiand and Seattle (Melnig 1968:274-275,325). Yet expansion of the wheat
industry into the Inland Empire was slow and experimentai. It was late In the
1880s before wheat was first grown successfully in the Big Bend region,

Records of the General Land Office, responsible for surveying the Public
Domain, showed few settlers In the project area between 1883 and 1908. A
Douglas County Directory map series showed that in 1915 most available land
along the river was occupied. Patent dates on the thirteen homestead sites
recorded in the project area indicate that the Douglas County side was settled
most actively between 1905 and 1910, and the Okanogan side in the 1920's and
1930's.

Homesteading In the project area, however, was a fairly short-lived
phenomenon. The relatively wet years between 1910 and 1920, which encouraged
immlgration into the area, were followed by the droughts of the 1920's which
ruined many smali farms. Oral histories of the early homesteaders are
remarkably simllar. Lured by the General Land Office's reports of arable land
watered by springs and with good pasture and timber, they took out patents and
began farming, but found It unprofitable. There was simply not enough water:
drought and economic depression effectively ended the homesteading period
before 1920. Later, the original homesteads were aggregated into larger
holdings. Modern technliques of irrigation, using water from the Columbia
River have made these more recent fariming ventures viable.

A BTN R g S e e e e T T T T T T T N T T T T S L AR SRS OLTREN
. G TR I - - L Y P R “«am o AT TR T T U
n‘{-‘:‘.\". o .lﬂ“\'.‘ ‘:_'...',"-_ . T et T L M - o . -t . T at S L, St e

T R « . - - e - . e LT N RS
N S O SR C LS T e T e T e e R IR e
RS "J"“.'\-' A R A P N LT SR A T R R SN AR




b

3
0
4 Sig)

o

N

Lt

b )

‘ "

i 4. ALLOTMENTS

2

)

i

A The allotment system, which granted parcels of land to enrolled

A reservation Indlans, was formalized in 1887 In the Dawes Act. One goal of the

y q act was to assimitate Indlans Into the white American culture by discouraging

o thelr traditlonal economic strategles of subsistence. By definitlon, an
allotment was analogous to a homestead--each enrcolled Individual was granted a

Y parcel of land to be improved by farming or grazing. An Individual applicant

ifi was | Imited to properties not In excess of 40 acres of irrigable land, 80

:}: acres of nonirrigable land, and 160 acres of nonirrigable grazing land as
o surveyed and designated by the General Land Office. Reservation lands that
T had not been al lotted by 1906 were proclaimed "surplus" and opened to
@ settiement by other homesteaders.

. OQur survey documented four allotments within the project boundaries, all
N near the Nespelem River. Only one seems to have been occupied by an Indlan
;fﬂ famlly; the others were leased to non-Indian families for sheep grazing or
NN farming. Such leases, of course, frustrated the goal of assimilating Indians

Py into the American economic system and may have been one reason for the

allotment system's fallure. More importantly, however, the farms allotted to
»{? Indians failed for the same reasons *he white homesteads in the area falled:
*}i there was too |ittle land and too |i+tle water. |In consequence, allotments
o were often leased at low rates by their owners to white ranchers who then
- formed large tracts for grazing. As the following summaries show, this

general pattern was reflected In the project area.
45-0K-238H -- ARMSTRONG ALLOTMENT

This site is part of an al lotment made to Almira J. Armstrong on March
17, 1917. Records Indicate that she was a minor attending St. Mary's Mission
School at the time (Records of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Real Estate
Office, Nespelem). There is no indication that she ever occupied the
property, and in 1928 her al lotment was leased. The lessee was Cull White,
controller of a large sheep grazing operation along the Nespelem River.
Correspondence between Almira Armstrong and superintendents of the Colville
Indlan Agency Indicate that she continued to lease the property over the years
and wanted to sell it. Her request was denied until 1957 when she sold to J.
E. Thoren.

General Land Office Records state that the Almira J. Armstrong Allotment
(S-403) included Lots 1 and 2 in Section 32 and Lots 3 and 4 In Section 33,
both in Township 31 North, Range 30 East, totalling 129.60 acres (Bureau of
Land Management Archives, Portland). The property bordered the Columbia River
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on a bluff approximately 50 ft+ above the beach in 1907. The General Land
Office surveyor described the sections as mountalnous to rolling, with
general ly poor solls and scattered undergrowth of sagebrush and greasewood
(see Appendix A). This allotment was immediately downriver from the Wickman
placer mine, but there were no reports or signs of placer mining activity on
the allotment. Interviews with local people revealed Iittle additional
information about the site. According to George Thal lheimer, it was known as
the old Armstrong place and one person who leased it raised peanuts (personal
communication 1977).

The site is located on the north bank of the Columbia River, 3,690 ft
(f.e. 1/2 mile) upstream from RM 581 (Figure 1-1), on a high terrace at an
elevation of 1,050 ft+ above m.s.l. (Figure 4-1). Panama Canyon is immediately
to the east and the Columbia River to the south. Evidence of the site may be
seen in furrows of a formerly cultivated field, now abandoned and reverting to
natural vegetation. Thils area is belleved to be the former location of a
dwel | ing and perhaps an outbullding, as domestic debrls Is scattered over the
surface. More of the site was found along the edge of the flield at the
beglinning of the descent into Panama Canyon. Two root cellars, measuring 11 x
19 x5 ftand 12x 12 x5 ft, were designated Features 1 and 2. A refuse dump
of indeterminate size was designated Feature 3. The three features are
numbered on Figure 4-1.

Feature 1 was rectangular with a single doorway at one of the short ends;
its shape was a common one for root cellars In the region. |t was bullt of
logs set into an excavation in the slde of the hill. The walls were 5 to 6 ft
thick and lumber was used to construct the entryway.

The second root cellar, Feature 2, differed from the first In that it was
square and its walis averaged about 1.5 ft thick. The walls and a single
ridgepole were built of logs, but the roof and entryway probably were built of
lumver. Like the first root cellar, it was constructed around an excavation
Into the side of a hill. There was no evidence of cribs or shelving In the
Interior of either cellar; round common nails were the only associated
artifacts.

A third feature ldentified as a refuse dump was scattered on the lower
slopes of the canyon walls. The dimensions of Feature 3 were impossible to
gauge because the refuse was pitched randomly over the bank. Artifacts
defining it Included tin cans, enamelware, scrap metal, earthenware plate
fragments, bottlies, a stove pipe, and a barrel strap.

45-0K-174H and 45-0K-215H -- PAKOTAS ALLOTMENT

These two slte numbers are components of a single land al lotment,
Allotment H-417, which was given in trust patent to Ka-si-at (Susanne) Pakotas
on April 7, 1917. The property was located in Township 30 North, Range 30
East. It included 40 acres In Section 14, 37.73 acres in Lot 5 of Sectlon 15,
and 29.20 acres In Lot 6 of Section 15 for a total of 106.95 acres. Fifty of
these were classified as agricultural and 56.95 were classified as grazing
acres (General Land Office Allotment Records, Bureau of Land Management,
Portland). Ka-si-at Pakotas died April 13, 1926, at the age of 19 and her
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! Figure 4-1. Armstrong Allotment (-5-OK-238H) and cultural features
3 Identified. For legend, see Appendix B.
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mother, Alice Gal ler Pakotas, Inherited the property in 1930. Mrs. Pakotas
was also heir to an adjacent 154.89 acres of property (H-398), formerly held
by her uncle, William Spo-hi. The historical records do not make clear
whether Alice Galler and Ka-si-at Pakotas |ived on Ka-si-at's allotment.
According to records, Mrs, Pakotas |ived in Nespelem, but whether she lived In
town or in its vicinity Is not known, There Is some evidence that Mrs.
Pakotas |ived on the slte during part of the time she owned it: the present
property owner recalls that Alice Galler Pakotas was the last person fo |lve
there (James Short, personal communication 1977). Also, from 1927 to 1932,
the property surrounding Lots 4 and 5 of Ka-si-at's allotment was leased to
Mr. William Bell for sheep grazing. Since the allotment itself was not
{eased, it may have been occupied. Furthermore, the property is known locally
as the "0ld Pakotas Place." By 1958, the al lotment was added to Willlam
BelI's grazing lease and was sold to him in 1960 (Bureau of indian Affair
Records, Colville Indian Agency, Nespelem, and Assessors Office Records,
Okanogan County Courthouse, Okanogan).

General Land Office maps and fleld notes of a 1907 survey did not show
any bulldings or structures on Lots 5 and 6 of the site (see Appendix A).
However, a "cabin--value About $50.00" was shown on Lot 7, which probably

belonged tfo Willlam Spo-hi, and a "wood" wagon rcad that ran north-south
through the lots. The property was described as "mountainous--second rate
sandy loam soil--sage brush, willow, brier, maple and birch" vegetation

(General Land Office Fleld Notes, Bureau of Land Management, Portland).

During the 1977 field season, project workers contacted James Short, a
local resident and present owner of the land. His reminiscences and
observations are incorporated into the following description.

Separated into two sections by a ravine and perennial stream, 45-OK-174H
and 45-0K-215H is on a narrow terrace between 980 and 1,020 ft above m.s.l. at
RM 583 ( Figures 1-1 and 4-2). Sagebrush, rabbitbrush, cheatgrass, pine
trees, and deciduous trees presently grow on the site. Table 4-1 lists 18
features defined In the 1977 field survey. The features were in fair physical
condition. Except for the maln dwelling and the root cellar, their original
character could notbe determined. The house was destroyed as part of
reservoir clearing operations in the 1950s, and the cellar was filled in by
the present property owner (James Short, personal communication 1977). Figure
4-2 shows locations of the cultural features identified.

The dwell ing foundation (Feature 1) was built of fieldstones set with
concrete, The walls were between 1 and 1.5 ft wide and vrormed a continuous
perimeter around the house. A rectangular group of cemented stones located at
the center may have been a chimney base. According to James Short, the
dwelling was a frame building with board siding, typical of those on the
reservation between 1916 and 1930. Mr. Short observed that U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers records say the house enclosed "1,027 square f+," which contradicts
the archaeological evidence unless the building was two stories high. The
house was torn down about 1959 during a Corps reservolir clearing operation. A
board pile (Feature 3) adjacent to the house foundation, consisted of iumber
and refuse, presumed to be remnants of building materials. The house
apparently was constructed of clapboard and some split logs. Common round
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s
3
N nails were used. A set of stalrs (Feature 6), built of lumber and wire nalls,
b was also associated with the dwelling.
Table 4-1. Feature type and dimensions at 45-0K-174H and
" 215H Allotment,
2
- Feature Type Dimensions (ft)
S
&
‘D 1 Dwel ling foundation 24 x 26
A '\ 2 Root cel lar 8 x 18
K<) 3 Board pile 21 x 15
N 4 Stone calrn 4 x 4
ﬁ 5 Unidentified fence
1% enclosure 12 x 15
6 Wood stairs
O 7 Apricot tree
B «::: 8 Chicken coop 6 x 6.5
_:\1 9 Box 2.5 x3
>N 10 Privy pit (?) 3.5x 5
1 Privy pit (?) 3.5%x 5
o 12 Two clothesline posts
{\ 13 Refuse dump 110 x 130
ﬂ-;:'_*: 14 Refuse dump 20 x 25
IO 15 Barn 29 x 40
L 16 Door 2.7 x 8.1
17 Door 3.4 x 6.2
- 18 Corral
el
.\&.:: A nearby root cellar (Feature 2) was fllied In by Mr. Short (personal
3 communication, 1977) because it was a hazard to cattle. The celliar was built
' info a rectangular excavation with log post frame and |umber walls. The roof
W was gabled and covered with soll. Mr, Short described Its condition as good
_:‘, at the time he filled it. The buliding had a double doorway and was similar
': In shape and construction to the root cellar (Feature 1) at 45-0K-220H.
[+ : A fenced enclosure of unidentifled function (Feature 5) was found in a
:;, gully on the west side of the house. It was constructed of four horlzontal
W poles fastened by square notches at each corner, Vertical pickets were nalled
o to the Inside of each of the pole sills and were reinforced near the top by
": another four horlzontal boards. The structure was located parallel to an
LS east-west barbed wire fence Ilne, and two fence posts relnforced its southwest
"'_\ and southeast corners. It is possible that the structure was used as a crib
o or feed box, slnce the vertical pickets were nailed on the inside of the sill
o and were capable of supporting pressuyre from inside. i
A An unidentified stone cairn (Feature 4) was noted along the terrace bank J.
O near the house. Constructed of medium sized river cobbles placed In an }
- Irregular circle, the cairn contained and was surrounded by a large amount of
._‘:;: refuse, A Mason jar and bottle glass fragments, tobacco cans, tin can |ids,
L3
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boards, and a brick were identified; the cairn may have been another refuse
dump,

Two clothesl Ine posts (Feature 12) were located near the house (Feature
1). Both were bullt of vertical logs with lumber crossplieces and round common
nails to attach clotheslines. The posts had a north-south orientation and
were set 56 feet apart.

Eight fence posts were also noted in the survey of 45-OK-174H but were
not given a feature number, They were found in an east-west pattern in front
of the house along the terrace bank and were the only remnants of a barbed
wire fence at the site.

A single apricot tree (Feature 7) was found at the site, northeast of the
dwelling (Feature 1) and east of the root cellar (Feature 2).

Two surface depressions (Features 10 and 11) southwest of the house
(Feature 1) and north of the fence enclosure (Feature 5) were tentatively
identified as filled privy pits. Although there were no building remains
associated with these pits, they were recognized as artificlal depressions. A
galvanized can, possibly a milk can, was found partially buried in Feature 10.

A single chicken coop (Feature 8) was located across the road from the
creek and was designated 45-OK-215H by Munsell and Salo (1977). James Short
thought this building might have been used as a dwelling at one time, but no
archaeological evidence supported this. A box (Feature 9) was found near the
chicken coop., It was built of scrap lumber and probably was a feed box.

The road bordering the homestead was unpaved and used only by the present
land owner., |t appears to be the roadbed described in the 1907 General Land
Office survey as a "wood road." The surveyor may have meant a corduroy road.
Mr. Short (personal communication 1977) described thls road as an "Indlan
agency road or a government road" used by the settlers along this section of
the river.

The barn and associated features were |ocated upstream from the creek In
site 45-0K-215H. Flirst numbered independently, these features, have been
renumbered in sequence with those of 45-0K-174H. The barn (Feature 15) was
actually two buildings, one of log and the other of frame construction, placed
one agalnst the other. The log building appeared to have been constructed
first, since the rafters of the frame bulilding were superimposed over the log
building's plate and portions of a log wall were still in place between the
two buildings. The log portion of the barn was 14 x 20 ft. Surveyors could
find no signs of fiooring, so the barn was assumed to have had a dirt floor.
From ground surface, the log walls rose to a height of about 6 ft and then
were extended another 5.6 ft by the gable ends. These logs were peeled and
left round except for those used on the window sills and doorway opening. The
latter were square hewn, The corner logs were fastened by square notching. A
single window opening was on the west wall; its top and bottom logs were
notched to hold a frame; the other framing logs were cut short to form the
aperture. Although the one doorway had collapsed, it appeared that the wall
logs had been cut to accomodate a door frame. The building's roof was gabled
and oriented to the long axls of the barn. It was constructed of Z x 4~in
ratters nailed to the log wall plates and fastened at the roof apex by miter
cut and nails. Board sheathing was nailed to the rafters. The gable ends
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were framed by 2 x 4s and covered with vertical boards. A single window and

i board shutter were located In the west gable end.
The extension to the barn appeared to be a shed of frame construction,

" but its exact function could not be discovered from the remains, since It had
;3{ col lapsed and the roof fallen over the interlor sectlon. The dimensions of
e this portion of the barn were approximately 15 x 20 f+. The foundation
o consisted of two 2 x 6~in boards nailed together and set on edge. Thlis siil
‘J' was found on three sides but not between the two buildings. The walls were
o elevated by two 2 x 4s, one at each front corner, that were nalled to overhead
<o rafters which framed the roof. The roof was covered with wood shingles and
s the walls with vertical 1 x 6-in and 1 x 8-in boards. A doorway was located

- In the shed's west wall, and two doors (Features 16 and 17) were found nearby.
N The two doors suggested that there had been two entrances to the shed,

al though the location of only one could be confirmed. Both doors were bullt
. of vertical boards fastened with braces. Round common nalls and strap hinges
45% were used to construct the barn and its associated features.
\ A collapsed post and rall corral (Feature 18) was found on the east slde
ﬁ: of the barn at 45-0K-215H The ralls were about 10 f+ long and were stacked
o horizontal ly between two vertical posts, about 5 ft high, and fastened with
o barbed wire., Although mostly destroyed, the corral appears to have been

attached to the barn at one time.

As noted above, two concentrations of objects were recorded as refuse
dumps. The larger (Feature 13) was |located in front of the dwelling at 45-0K-
\ 174H and extended over the |ip of the terrace toward the beach. The surface
N debris appeared to be randomly scattered. The vast majority of objects were
domestic or personal (tems, although some Yransportation and
Industrial/agricultural objects were recorded. No items were collected for

'
e laboratory analyslis, nor were frequencies of objects recorded. Instead, a
N descriptive |ist of the contents was prepared and is recorded below.
-
o
Loy Domestic objects: enamelware, stove pipe, bed spring, baby buggy, canning
Jars and llds, food jars, food can, clock spring, atuminum canteen.
.ﬂ: Personal objects: medicine bottles, leather and rubber shoe soles,
- cosmetic jars, tobacco cans (Prince Albert), comb, flashlight.
": Transportation objects: automobile parts, wagon/buggy parts, oll cans,
rubber tire, Washington State |fcense plate "U1837 1935."

Industrial/Agricul tural objects: hoe blade, leather harness parts, pintle
hinge, cast-iron machine parts.

24", o
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The second refuse dump (Feature 14) was scattered along the hill that

3 descended to the creek which flows through both allotments. This refuse,

b consisting solely of tin cans, had apparentiy been disposed of in random "

[ fashion. No attempt had been made to bury it. The thick vegetation along the "

»';- creek prevented close inspection, so there may have been other objects as ,
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::}} The Pakotas site was |ittered with surface debris, particularly around .
L j the house. Because the debris had no ldentifiable boundaries, no attempt was y
. made to map the location or record artifact frequencies. The artifacts in
;ﬁf*: this scatter were mostly the same types found In the refuse dumps. A few
: f:~ objects not recorded earller were of special Interest. They Include disc
i}*: phonograph record fragments, a 1938 token, shell buttons, safety pins, blue )
{Q transfer printed china with ®“apan" printed on [t, a red bead with mold
' marks, and a stove damper marked "Griswold, Erle, P.A. U.S.A. American 6."
\
45-0K-220H —- GALLER ALLOTMENT )

Site 45-0K-220H Is on property alloted to Edna G. Galler (Allotment S-
2341) on April 6, 1930. Earlier, In 1903, thils property had been patented as
part of the Multnomah Mining and Milling Company's Wickman and Peabody placer

T~y

By claim. That patent was cancelled in 1917, Edna Galler's father, Wiliilam, had .
! ig first selected the property as an allotment In 1915. |t totaled 120 acres, 40 \
;t}ﬁ acres of which was designated as agricultural and 80 acres as grazing land.

:&‘Q 1T was located In Section 3, Township 30 North, Range 30 East (see Appendix

N b A). No evidence indicates that Edna Galler ever |ived on her allotment p
o al though there were several buildings there; records show that the land was

AN leased to sheep ranchers (Bureau of Indian Affairs Allotment Records, Colville

N indian Agency, Nespelem). Edna's husband and brother inherited the property

;{{j when she died In 1948, According to a local informant, the site was abandoned

g%ﬁ{ about this time and the buildings have deteriorated since. After some years, :
P the property was declared nontrust fand. No longer under Bureau of indian y

Affairs control, It was sold in 1960.
N Land survey notes of 1907 describe the section In which the al lotment Is
5-5 located as "rolling to mountainous" with "“2nd rate sandy |oam" soil, and
) } undergrowth of “sage brush, greasewood, willow, and smail timber with
) driftwood" (General Land Office Field Notes, Bureau of Land Management .
Archives, Portiand). Two roads entered the section from the south, but 3
neither crossed the Nespelem River.
The site Is on the north bank of the Columbia River, 1,000 m upstream
from RM 582 (Figure 1-1) and on the north bank of the Nespelem River, 4,100 ft
(i.e. 3/4 mile) upstream from its confluence with the Columbia River (Figure )
4-3). |t Is spread over two terraces and a hillside between 960 and 1,010 ft
above m.s.|. In the area designated as grazing land. Most of the site Is on
the upper terrace in the vicirity of a dirt road. The land is remarkably

~
»
3
"

f'~. X ~
= AR

;N open, mainly covered with grass. At the time of our investigation, some )

in Ponderosa pines and domestic trees grew there but virtually no sagebrush. The j

b\; 27 features found In the 1977 fleld survey of the site are listed in Table 4- |

Wy 2, Thelr locations are shown Iin Figure 4-3. X

phod Several buildings In varying states of preservation were found at this *

f:‘ site. Mr. Short (personal communication 1977) suggested that the Gallers put i

f¢ﬁ them up, but this could not be verified. A

;:u One root cellar (Feature 1) was so exceptionally well preserved that it

:{: became the standard for recognizing root cellar characteristics throughout the

}% project area (Figure 4-4). It was built by excavating an oblong pit in the :
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Table 4-2. Feature type and dimensions at 45-0K-220H,
Galler Allotment,

Feature Type Dimensions (fT)
1 Root cellar 17 x 19
2 Chicken coop 8 x 24
3 Root cellar 5x 8
4 Shed 12 x 18
5 Col lapsed roof 18 x 30
6 Collapsed barn 40 x 65
7 Dwel ling foundation

"bunkhouse" 20 x 24
8 Board scatter 4 x 10
9 Privy pit () 4 x 4
10 Privy pit 4 x 4
1 Road 5 x 80
12 Board scatter 7 x 12
13 Board scatter 12 x 20
14 Privy pit (?) 6 x 6
15 Refuse dump 50 x 55
16 Water pipes
17 Dwe! ling foundation 1 x 21
18 Board and refuse

scatter 15 x 30
19 Refuse dump 55 x 65
20 Barn 20 x 20
21 Automobile
22 Automobile
23 Road
24 Road
25 Lilac bush
26 Fencepost
217 Fencepost

side of a small hill, then constructing a wooden building inside and finally
backfilling the pit., This cellar and all others had dirt floors. Stones were
used to stabilize the hill near the entryway and the backdirt covering acted
as insulation. Feature 1 had a narrow porch, 4.5 ft long, that extended
beyond the main body of the cellar., This was used to keep snow or debris from
blocking the single doorway. The cellar was constructed of horizontal double
board wal ls over stud framing; a tarpapered roof covered it. A board facade
extended the wall behind the porch. The malin body of the root cellar was
rectangular and framed with studs ranging from 2 x 4 to 4 x 4 in. It was
covered with horizontal exterior board siding. This roof was also gabled,
tfastened to a ridgepole and covered with boards. A wood vent through the roof
ventilated the cellar. Three wide storage shelves |ined one Interior wall.
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Figure 4-4. Root cellar (Feature 1) at Galler Allotment (45-0K-220H).
(Drawn by Rebecca Hil|-Chance.)
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The doorway was constructed of three vertical boards fastened with two
horizontal braces made from 2 x 4s. Round common nails were used to bulild the
cellar. Some canvas weather siripping for the door, two spring close strap
hinges, a hasp, and two wooden door pulls were found.

A chicken coop (Feature 2) appeared to be two separate buildings that
shared a wall. The eastern building was 8 x 10 ft and the western building, 8
x 14 ft. Constructed with very |Ittle framing timber, both bulldings were In
poor condition although still standing. The frame was simply a box with 2 x
4s used as sills, corner studs, plates, window and door casings, and rafters.
A single exterior layer of 1 x 12 In boards was nalled to the frame to form
the wails and shed s*yle roof. The wall boards were vertical except under a
window on the front wall of the west bulldings. Each wall except the back one
had one doorway; the two windows were both in the front wall. Only one door
remained in place. 1t was bulit of vertical boards with a Z brace. The
windows were covered with chicken wire. A small passageway in the shared wall
altlowed chickens to move from one bullding to the other. The west bullding
contained nesting boxes. Artifacts found In the builliding included round
common nails, tarpaper, chicken wire, and asbestos weather stripping, iron
strap and canvas door hinges.

A hiilside cave-in had destroyed a second root cellar (Feature 3) nearly
beyond recognition, aithough the original excavation and trusses for the entry
porch were still visible, The trusses were constructed of 2 x 4s and the
porch was roofed with boards paralieling long axis of the bullding.

The function of Feature 4, designated as a shed, could not be determined
with certainty. Mr. Short (personal communication 1977) suggested that it was
a root cellar. |Its heavy construction and size, however, indicated that it
may have been a feed shed or crib. The building site was prepared by
excavating into the hillside, building walls, and then backfilling the area
around the walls, Just as was done in the construction of root cellars. The
frame was constructed of 4 x 4-in studs and covered by horizontal boards on
both the interior and exterior, The roof was a low pitch gable with a single
ridge beam and 2 x 4-1n rafters. Since roofing boards were of a much lighter
lumber than the sicing boards, It Is doubtful that the roof was covered by
backdirt. A single doorway in the front wall gave entry to an open room wlith
a dirt floor. The only Interior furnishing was a bin bullt against the wall
in the southwest corner. Round common nails, strap hinges for the door, and a
door latch chain were found in or near the bullding.

According to Mr, Short, Feature 5 was the remnant of a storage shed. All
that remained were the roof, scattered pieces of |umber, and some wagon parts.
Presumably, the rest of the bullding had been salvaged. The gable roof was a
combination of log and lumber boards and seemed to have been reroofed at least
twice. Logs were used for the ridgepole and rafters. Boards were nailed over
these and then wooden shingles applied. A second roof of boards was added
later.,

Feature 6 was a col lapsed "double barn" (James Short, personal
communication 1977)., Like the storage shed, it was constructed of a
combination of logs and boards., Portions of the foundation had vertical log
footings that elevated the sills and floor; in other sections, the sill and
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glrders simply rested on the ground; the difference was attributed to ground
slope. The walls were framed with whole logs and sided with boards. The roof
was gabled and shingled. Because of Its delapidated condition, room divisions
within the building could not be identifled.

A wood foundation (Feature 7) was found on a very narrow terrace along
the hill at the site's perimeter, This bullding was described as the
"bunkhouse" used when the allotment was leased to sheep ranchers (James Short,
personal communication 1977)., The foundation was constructed of 6 x 6~In and
2 x 6-1in sllls fastened at the corner by lap joints and nailed. One medial
girder was used in the foundation. The sills were elevated and leveled by
fleldstones and wood shims. The floor joists were 2 x 4s set on 2-ft centers
and covered with ship-lap floor boards. A 6.5 x 7-ft porch floor extended to
the northeast corner. Remnants of the bunkhouse superstructure (Feature 8)
Included board scraps, a door frame, a window frame, and a screen. The |umber
from the buildling was presumed to have been salvaged.

Feature numbers 12, 13, 16, and 17 were assigned to remnants of a second
dwelling. According to Mr. Short, thls was the original dwelling at the slite
and was last occupied In 1947-48, A partially buried alignment of fleldstones
(Feature 17) was all that remalned of a foundation wall and corner. Two
galvanized pipes (Feature 16) were located within the presumed boundaries of
the foundation. Both pipes were 3/4 in In dlameter and were found within a
shallow excavation. One pipe was used to feed water into the house by gravity
pressure from a spring on the hill above the site. The other pipe was bent
and attached to an iron shut-off valve. Two separate board scatters (Features
12 and 13) appeared to be the only remnants of the dwelling's superstructure.
Two wood braces of a type commonly used to reinforce root eaves were found
among the rubble of Feature 12. |In Feature 13, several 1 x 12-In planks,
about 10 ft long, were similar tfo the siding found on the standing buildings
at the slte.

Another barn (Feature 20) was found on the lower terrace along the
Nespelem River. The walls and roof of thls bullding were gone and probably
had been salvaged, although a few boards were still intact or were scattered
in the vicinity. The foundation consisted of vertical block footings placed
at each corner and in the center of the sills. The sills were 6 x 6-in
timbers fastened at the corners by lap-joints. A 4 x 4 In stud was toenailed
to the sills at each corner and at the center of each wall. Because this was
an unstable wall frame, knee braces were used for reinforcement, The braces
were nalled to the studs and siils and then reinforced again by 2 x 4-in
cleats nalled to the studs. The corner studs rose continuously to the roof
plates, while the center studs ended at a lower horizontal timber, 5.5 ft
above the sill. This stud clrcumscribed the bullding and was used for nailing
the siding boards. The remaining siding boards were 1 x 10s that extended
from ground surface to the roof on the building's exterior. The top cut on
the siding boards and the height of the corner studs suggested that the
bullding had a shed roof. The interior of the barn seemed to have been an
open room with one wood bin along the west wall.

| MK

e W




e
rd
.

b 3
id ~
f‘t ) oAy
: 35 -
) o
~ \-:.
ﬂg In addition to the dirt road used by the present residents of the area, -
i two roads were associated with the allotment property. One road leading up y

. the hlll to the bunkhouse was designated Feature 11. |ts vague and extremely =
:g eroded boundaries were best Identifled from a distance. The second road >
> (Feature 23) turned off the modern road toward the lower terrace near the j
b\ Nespelem River., There It forked again, one fork going downriver (Feature 24) <.
:* and the other upriver. Mr. Short (personal communication 1977) remembereu & )
: foot and car bridge had once crossed the river there, -
s Three refuse dumps (Features 15, 18, and 19) were found along the hill In T

; tront of the main dwelling (Feature 17). These all appear to have been ﬂ:-
& randomly deposited. All objects were found on the surface and no buried Y
>, deposits were evident. Most of these were associated with domestic use, but o)
., some personal, fransportation, agricultural/Industrial, and miscellaneous :

' artifacts were recorded. The predominance of domestic Items suggested that

X the refuse dumps were associated with the dwelling and were deposited while
08 the house was occupied or after it was being torn down. The contents of the

N three dumps are |isted below.

,: Domestic objects: tin cans, glass bottles and jars, enamelware utensils,

cast-iron griddle, wash tub, stove pipe, dry cell batteries, ice cube

«p tray divider, "Gold Shield Coffee" can, '"Heidelberg Beer" can, "Mazola

? Refined Corn Oii" can, "Log Cabin Syrup" can, beer (11 fl. oz.) bottles,

W “Cascade Beverage Co. Wenatchee, Wash.," soda pop bottle, 4/5 |iquor

! bottle.

. Personal objects: {eather shoe fragments, tricycle, rubber boots.

"\

¥ Transportation objects: Inner tube.

Y Agricultural/Industrial objects: woven (hog) wire, barbed wire, "Union 76

' Outboard Motor--Chainsaw-Power Lawn Mower-Etc." oll can.

. Miscel laneous objects: wood lathe, cast iron fragments, sheet metal, :}w

) unidentified glass vessel fragment. }Q
S -4
K Construction material objects: stove plpe, roof flashing, 2 x 4 In :'
“ boards, 1 x 12 In boards, 1 x4 i1 =hlp-lap boards.

Lol

J Two abandoned cars were also found at the site. Both were located off

; the roads on the lower terrace near the Nespelem River. Feature 21 was a

] Plymouth coupe, stripped of most of its parts. Feature 22 was a car of an

[ unknown make that had also been stripped.

Three possible privy pits were found. All of them were located near the
two dwellings, Features 9 and 10 were found on the hill behind the

", "bunkhouse" (Feature 7). The plts were two round depressions without

b structural remains, Feature 14 was found aiong the bank near the second

: dwel ling (Feature 17)., It had been filled In, and only a circular depression
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remained. Several boards were scattered in the vicinity but none could be
Ildentifled as part of a privy structure,

Three additional features were noted. These were: a |llac bush (Feature
25) growling at the southeast corner of the bunkhouse (Feature 7), a grove of
honey locust trees, growling on the slte of the dwelling foundation (not assigned
a number but illustrated in Figure 4-3)., and two fence posts (Features 26 and
27) found near the barn (Feature 20) on the lower terrace.
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45-0K-224H — GALLER ALLOTMENT

This site, |lke 45~0K-220H, is part of the Edna Gal ler Allotment selected
In 1915 and patented in 1930. Prlor to 1915, it was within the boundaries of
the Peabody placer claim. The property was classified as "grazing |and"
(General Land Offlce Records, Bureau of Land Management, Portland). As noted
above, no records or informants Indicate that Edna Galler ever |ived on the
property; It Is assumed to have been occuplied by a |easeholder.

The property was located In Section 3, Township 30 North, Range 30t (see
Appendix A) In the vicinity of a "boat landing" shown on a 1918 geological map
in the NE 1/4 of Sectlon 3 (Pardee 1918). The site may have been associated
with the boat landing.

Site 45-0K-224H is on the north bank of the Columbia River, 1,560 ft
upstream from RM 582 (Figure 1-1) and on the north bank of the Nespelem River.
Before Chief Joseph Dam was built the site was 2,300 ft upstream from the
Nespeiem's confluence with the Columbia River (Figure 4-5). Bounded at the
rear by a hill rising to a higher terrace, the site was found on an alluvial
plain about 950 to 980 ft above m.s.l. The vegetation was predominantly low
grass cover wlth some sagebrush. The four features noted In the 1977 field
survey are Illustrated In Figure 4-5 and described below.

The root cel lar (Feature 2), measurling 14 x 21 ft, was In very poor
condition. It had collapsed and been covered by colluvium from the nearby
hitl. |Its construction was similar to the cellars at 45~0K-220H. After an
oblong hole had been dug and reinforced at the entryway with stone retaining
walls, the wood parts of the cellar were bullt Inside the hole. Lumber
associated wlth the cellar Indicated that it had studs at the corners and
horizontal board walls. A possible ridgepole suggested that it had a gable
roof. The cellar was probably backfiiled for insulation. The other features
consisted of two artifical terraces (Features 1 and 3) measuring 14 x 21 ft
and 28 x 28 ft, and a refuse dump (Feature 4),

The artiflcal terraces were recognized by their del Iberate cuts into the
ground siope. Both were squarish, and the actual excavations were readlily
visible when the vegetation was low during the fall and winter months, The
same terraces can be identifled In the summer months by the presence of
t mbl ing mustard (Sisymbrium altissumym’. Presumably these terraces were cut
"o level the ground prior to the construction of buildings.

A road was found running east-west between the terraces and the Nespelem
River but was not given a feature number. The dirt road, overgrown and
unused, probably was the road that ran to the boat landing.
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Figure 4-5. Galler Allotment (45-0K-224H) and cultural features -y
Identifled. For legend, see Appendix B.
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1Y
Some of the objects found at the site were of recent origin but objects
concentrated around Feature 4, the refuse dump, and the heavier Items |ikely 3
were assoclated with the site's occupation. A list of those artifacts :
fol lows. '
Domestic objects: tin cans, "Olympla" beer can, cast-iron stove leg, bed ‘
springs, sheet metal, stove fragments.
Miscel laneous objects: strap Iron, unidentified glass vessel fragments, ‘
hay bale rope (nylon), 50-galion drum,
L Aside from Feature 4, objects scattered over the site Included kerosene
) lamp fragments, a Purex bottle, a plastic toy wheel, a Band-aid box, a 1933
.{:,-: ldaho |icense piate "7H 14-51," an eye bolt and nut, a metal water pail, foam
::y::j rubber, and a wood window frame and screen.
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5. PLACER MINES

The dlscovery of gold near Kettle Falls In 1855 brought fortune-seekers
on to Indian lands where only occaslonal fur traders, explorers and
misslonaries had ventured before. Although the project area did not become a
major mining district, placer mining of the beaches, bars or terraces of the
Columbia River rewarded the efforts of a few.

The placers In the area were reputed to have been worked primarily by
Chinese. These gold miners, contracted by Chinese companies In Callfornia,
panrned and slulced gold from fthe Columbia River and 1ts tributaries In the
1860s and 1870s. Between 300 and 400 Chinese miners were working the Columbia
and Pend Oreille Rivers In and near Fort Colville In 1865 (Hildebrand
1977:11). Chinese camps seen along the banks of the rivers typlcally had
dwellings of cedar boards roofed with logs and brush (Hildebrand 1977:12).
Near the project area, Chinese placer miners were reportedly hired by Wild
Goose Bill Condon to heip build his road from Fort Spokane to Ruby In the
1880s (Weber 1977).

In general, white miners tended to demand high yleld "diggings" and sold
any relatively low yield claims to the Chinese. All over eastern Washington,
the Chinese migrated to the marginally productive areas or to mines considered
to be "played out" by white miners (Trimble 1914:144), Occaslonally, mines
abandoned by both Chinese and American miners were reopened during times of
economic depression (George Thallhelmer, persona! communication 1977),

Placer mining was done by removing the sandy overburden in order to work
the gold bearing gravel deposits below. This left excavation scars often
littered with cobbles of various sizes., Simple equipment--rockers and/or
slulices with riffles of several different materials--were used to extract the
gold from the soll. A "grizzely" separated larger gravels and cobbles from
sand In the slufce box. Placer mining required plenty of water; sometimes
flumes and ditches several mlles long had 1o be constructed to provide the
mine with water. Symons (1882) notes one such engineering feat:

...they [Chinese miners] have taken the water from Hask Creek and
conducted it about three miles In ditches and wooden flumes made of
whipsawed lumber, and have taken it to a large bar-island in the river,
crossing the Intervening channel by means of an inverted siphon, also
made of whipsawed |umber (1882:28).

Eight placer mines were identified In the project area. One additlional
site was investigated, but the evidence did not confirm that placer mining had
been done there. Seven of the mlnes were located In Douglas County: four of
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these were reputed to have been worked by Chinese miners. Onily one mine was
found on the Okanogan County side of the river on the Colvlile Reservation.
1o This Imbalance is not surprising since the reservation was closed to mining
! untll 1898. Traces of other mlnes worked before the reservation was
established In 1872 were not found. No records show the value of the minerals

::;\ taken from the mines In the project area. The eight mine sltes and the one
:’5 site Investigated for a mine are summarized below.

V)

j&\;. 45-D0-200H

o This placer mine site Is relatively small and may have been a prospect
rather than a developed mine, It is located In Sectlon 10, Township 30 North,

0. Range 28 East, on the south bank of the Columbla River, 495 ft downstream from
RM 569 (Figure 1-1), at an elevation of 950 f* above m.s.l. The site consists

SN of two parallel excavations dug perpendicular to the river. Each Is from 7 to

_-:{: 10 ft wide, 10 to 15 ft longand 1 1/2 to 2 f+ deep. Both are filled with

o basalt and granite river cobbles. Vegetation--mainly cheat grass and

:;\::; sagebrush--near the excavatlon trenches was undisturbed at the time we

Investigated. No plants were growing in the trenches.

General Land Office Field Notes (Bureau of Land Management Archlves,
Portland) indicate that the placer mine was located about 50 ft above the
river in 1905. There was, however, no mentlon of the miner or other occupants
of the property. The property's first known occupant was Edward F. Gerdeman
who took a "cash entry" patent in 1914 (General Land Offlce Records, Bureau of
Land Management Archives, Portiand). The mline may have been worked by
Gerdeman around the turn of the century, as suggested by one of the present
owners of the property (Fred and Harold Weber, personal communication 1977).

45-D0~-210H

Munsel| and Salo (1977) did not record the placer mine portion of this
site In thelr reconnalssance although they noted a root cellar and refuse In
the vicinity. Available historic and archaeological data were not sufficlent
to determine whether the root cellar was associated with the placer mine or a
later homestead.

The first known owner of the property was William R Prather. On May 13,
1890, he took out a "cash entry" patent on 127.35 acres in Lots 1 and 2 of
Section 1 and Lot 1 of Section 12, Township 30 North, Range 30 East (General
Land Office Records, Bureau of Land Management Archives, Portland). Although
a 1915 plat map does not record the land owner, a house Iin Lot 1 and another
in Lot 2 (both in Section 1), as well as the Barry Ferry crossing and road
entering Lot 1 are depicted. The house in Lot 1 on the downstream side of
Sanderson Creek was the only feature found that may be one of those on the
plat map.

The site Is on a generally flat terrace about 960 to 980 ft above m.s.l.
On a low sandy beach in front of the site, investigators found fragments of a
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r":j: wagon. Vegetation was primarily sagebrush and cheat grass. Some bitterbrush
Sﬁ and several deciduous trees grew along the riverbank. The bank Is steep and
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incised along the entire length of this site, a configuration caused by placer
mining activities.

The placer mine itself Is fairly large, extending about 1,000 ft along
the terrace and about 300 ft back from the riverbank. Flive excavations were
noted and all were oriented roughly perpendicular to the river. The
excavations were also large, and ranged from 20-25 ft In length, 24-200 f+ In
width, and 5-10 ft In depth. Excavations in the vicinity of the root cellar
tended to be U-shaped with slightly perpendicular walls and flat bottoms.
Basalt and granite river cobbie piles formed the floors of these excavations
about 10 f+ below the surface. The excavations on the downstream side of the
slte tended to be V-shaped and resembled natural erosional features.

In addition to the placer excavations, two features were recorded In the
historic survey. Feature 1 was a root cellar measuring 13 x 25 ft and Feature
2, a structure of unident!fied function, measured 23 x 12 ft,

The root cellar (Feature 1) had a 6-ft wide, 10-ft long entryway on the
east wall. Detalls of the cellar's construction were difficult to observe
because most of the structure was still burled. Surveyors did note that the
cellar had been dug underground and was flush with the ground surface. The
walls were constructed of logs and planks. The 2 x 12-in planks were nalled
horizontally to the logs on the inside and shelves were built along the
Interior walls. The enfryway was lined with vertical boards which also | Ined
the corridor leading down into the cellar room. Common wire nalls were used
throughout.

The second feature (Feature 2) consisted of two pieces of galvanized
sheet metal found on the surface; one of these was corrugated. The sheet
metal was attached with round common nalls to 1 x 6~in boards at the ends and
In the center., Surveyors were unable to determine a function for this feature
since it was both isolated and destroyed beyond recognition.

Site 45-D0-210H held a rich historic artifact assemblage. Investigators
noted a scatter of historic cultural debris on the surface, Inciuding metal,
glass, ceramics, nails and a cast-Iron woodstove. Excavations of prehistoric
site 45-D0-211 uncovered many more artifacts, Including a Chinese coin
fragment and other artifacts possibly of Chinese origin, leading to the
conjecture that the site was placer mined by Chinese workers. In an effort to
determine possible occupants and/or site function, the historic artlfact
assemblage was collected for analyslis.

Most of the historic cultural materlal was located In the southern
portion of the site, designated Area B (Figure 5-1). The root cellar is
located In the northwest part of this area, a few meters south of the central
placer mining excavation. The northern portion of the site was designated
Area A.

Over 900 historic artifacts were recovered; nearly half are metal scrap
fragments recovered from Unit BNOE in Area B. The total of 805 artifacts
recovered from Area B includes artifacts primarily associated with
homesteading. Figure 5-1 depicts the distribution of artifacts In both areas.
In addition to metal scrap and strap metal from barrel hoops, the collection
from Area B Includes canning jar |iners, zinc canning i1d fragments and rubber
gaskets for canning jars; a variety of ceramic patterns and piain white
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?:_ earthenware fragments of unldentifled vessels; and, tins for tohacco and tea.

: More personal Items Include a glass "ruby" Iinset for a pin or brooch and

by clothing fasterners such as buttons, safety pins, shoelace grommets, a buckle,

¥y and a garter buckle. Bullding materials Include wire nalls and a few square
Ad nails, tacks, screws and staples. The much smaller collection of 106

ij: artifacts north of the placer excavation in Area A contalned hob nalls for

%0 miners' shoes and the Chinese coin fragment. These artifacts were located In

- Unit 68N20W, near the northern placer excavation.

‘£ﬂ Although the hob nails and the coln fragment may suggest Chinese mining
3 activity, In general, the artifact collection offers little enlightenment

about alning activities conducted at the site, let alone who the miners were
or when they mined. Reglonai history suggests that a Chinese coln fragment
could have been brought to the site whether Chinese miners were there or noft.
Likewise hob nalls are not exclusively associated wlith miners! boots.
Chinese colns have been ldentified In a number of prehistoric and

B

#‘ ethnographic sites In the Northwest, Including a site in Bridgeport,

% Washington, identifled as an "old Indlan camp" (Beals 1980:66). Colns

%ﬁ collected from shlpwrecks off the coast were probably the first Chinese money
al to enter Northwest Indian trade routes. One such episode is the alleged

by Spanish shlpwreck south of the Columbia River mouth early in the elghteenth

! : century. From the wreckage, the native residents collected, among other

‘:: things, square-holed Chinese coins to use as ornaments (Barry 1932:26).

o Subsequently, the coins were Introduced during the maritime fur trade,

J$: particularly from 1785-1830, when many ships were manned by Chinese crews. By

1850, the colns were wlidely distributed throughout the Northwest by means of
Native American trade networks (Beals 1980:69).

:E'\ Except for hobnalls, characteristically used In miners' boots, and the
A Chinese coln fragment, the remainder of the artlfact collection at 45-DO-210H
1% suggests homesteading activities after 1900. The majority of wire nalls
> compared to a small number of square nalls indlcate a post-1900 time period
S (see Chapter 2). The few amethyst glass fragments are from vessels
> manufactured from ca. 1885-1917. Thls archaeological finding Is supported by
:j} historic records which report homesteading In the vicinlity by 1915 (General
: . Land Office Records, Bureau of Land Management Archives, Portland).
1Y A detailed inventory of the artifacts recovered from 45-D0-210H Is glven
b below.
5-’: BOTTLE AND VESSEL GLASS
\".
S -
- Twenty elght fragments of amber, clear and amethyst glass as well as a
{: plece of red faceted glass, a ring or brooch Inset designed to resemble a
;- ruby, were recovered. With the exception of a few contemporary amber beer
ek bottle fragments, all of the bottle glass and the red glass Inset were found
'1 in the east portlon of Area B. Two canning jar |lner fragments were recovered
S from the north portion of Area B. Most remalining fragments were located In
) Unlt 16NOE. The amethyst glass fragments give a clue to the site's age and

also indicate site disturbance. Amethyst glass was originally clear glass
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contalning manganese oxlide, manufactured from ca. 1885-1917 (Hunt 1959:10).
Exposure to sun causes a chemlcal reaction that turns the clear glass the
characteristic amethyst shade. Thus, even though the amethyst fragments were
recovered 10-20 cm below the surface, at some time they were above ground and
exposed to the sun.

CERAMICS

Fifty elght earthenware fragments, incliuding many with varyling types of
surface decoration, were recovered from Area B, most from Unit 16NOE. Twenty
seven fragments are plain white earthenware; one Is a white hardpaste
earthenware shard and three are pearlware fragments. The remalning 25
fragments are from two vessels (and possibly more). These fragments are of
dark blue transfer earthenware with a curvilinear border pattern and a vase
and floral motif (Figure 5-2). Handpalnted gold bands highiight the ralsed
dot and curve pattern on the Interior rims of several fragments. No
trademarks were recovered.

Figure 5-2. Dark blue transfer earthenware shards from 45-DO-210H.

METAL
Nalls and Other Construction Fasteners

Twelve square-cut nalls, 47 wire nails, two Hungarian shoe nalls and 27
other construction fasteners were recovered.

The square cut nalls Include four 4d, one 3d and seven common cut nallis
with broken shanks. Nine were recovered from Area A, Including four from Unit
68N20W, the unlt next to the rliverbank; three were recovered from Area B.

The Hungarian shoe nalls or hob nalls measure 4/8 In and were located In
Unft 68N20W in Area A. The remaining construction fasteners Include 19 tacks
measuring 3/8 In, 1/2 In, and 5/8 in; two wood screws measuring 1 1/4 in and
1/2 In, one machline screw measuring 3/4 in, two wire staples; and, two wrought
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lron staples measuring 1 5/8 in and 1 3/4 in. All were recovered In Area B
from the same units (8N6W and 8NOE) contalning the wlire nails, except for one
wrought Iron staple and two wire staples that were recovered from Unit 18NG6NW.

Tin Cans

One complete pocket tobacco tin, one resealable canister |id and one
open-top fragment comprise the tIn can collection. The open-top fragment was
recovered from Area A, the resealable |ld and tobacco tin from Area B. The
resealable canister I1d (4 3/4 In x 3 In x 3/8 In) has the stamped letters,
HORMMANS PURE TEA, and a curv!|inear design stamped around the edges (Figure
5-3). The pocket tobacco tin (4 1/4 inx37/8 In) Is ared canwith a hinged
iid and blue and yellow letters, including "...UNION LEAGUE," surrounded by a
green and yeliow design.

Figure 5-3. Lid from resealable tin canister from 45-D0-210H.

Cartridges

Twelve cartridges recovered from this site Indicate small game and deer
hunting, but whether all hunting was undertaken by the Inhabitants is unknown.
Most of the cartridges are types that have been available on the American market
for 80-100 years and so are of questionable value In dating the site. The
cartridges were evenly distributed between Areas A and Area B.




L1

The Inventory of cartridges from 45-D0-210H Includes the following types:
callbre long (Figure 5-4).

AR Kk K

Figure 5-4. Headstamps and profiles of cartridges from 45-DO-210H.

a. .22 calibre short, Olin Mathieson Chemical Corp.

b. .22 catlibre short, Unlon Metal lic Cartridge Company

C. .22 calibre short, manufacturer unknown

d. .38 calibre tong, OlIn Mathleson Chemical Corp.

e. .308 calibre, manufacturer unknown

f. .44 Evans short(?) for O!d Mode! Evans rifle and Winchesters
g. .44 calibre tong for J.M. Mariin Ballard Sporting Rifle No.2

The four .22 callbre short cartridges (Figure 5-4;a,b,c) found at the
site are from rimfire shells Introduced In 1857 and still In use today. They
are commoniy used for smali game and bird hunting, as well as sel f-defense
(Barnes 1980:289). One cartridge bears a "U" trademark first Introduced by
the The Union Metallic Cartridge Company in 1885 (Muel ler and Olson 1968:296).
The ™" trademark (Figure 5~4;a) was first used by the 0lin Mathieson Chemical
Corps In 1905 (Mueller and Olson 1968:279). The four .22 calibre cartridges
appear to have been shot from the same flrearm.

The one .38 callbre long cartridge case found at the site Is pictured In
Figure 5-4;d. This type of rimfire cartridge was introduced In 1867 and had
been discontinued by 1930. The case found at the site carrles the trademark
"M" flrst used in 1905 (Mueller and Olson 1968:279). Thlis shell case then was
manufactured between 1905-1930.

The one .308 (7,62) callbre shel| cartridge (Figure 5-4;e) Is a standard
military type often used for deer hunting (David Munseli, personal
communication 1983),

The three .44 Evans short cartridge cases (Figure 5-4;f); are of a type
probably made for Old Model Evans rifles Introduced about 1875, and loaded by 3
Winchesters untll the early 1920s (Barnes 1980:114). Box lots of the
ammunition were avallable for purchase until 1940-41 (Barnes 1980:114).

The three .44 calibre long cartridge cases (Figure 5-4;g) are of a type
first introduced for the J.M. Marlin Ballard Sporting Rifle No. 2 in 1875-76
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(Barnes 1980:115). Barnes does not indicate when this type of shell went out
of production,

Miscel laneous Metal

Miscel laneous metal found at site 45-DO-210H includes fragments of
household paraphernalia and farming equipment. The artifacts